
M.D. of Ranchland No.66
Council Meeting Agenda

Municipal Building 
Chain Lakes Provincial Park

April 9, 2024 
at 10:30 AM

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

A. Council Meeting of March 26, 2024
B.

4. DELEGATION’S SCHEDULE

A. Richard Harrison, Wilson Laycraft LLP @ 2:00 p.m.

5. EXTERNAL CORRESPONDENCE – (for information)

A. Administration/ Finance
B. Public Works
C. Agriculture/ Parks & Recreation
D. Emergency/ Protective Services
E. Legislative / Planning /Development
F. Other Business

6. BUSINESS – (action items)

A. Administration/ Finance
i. 3-year operating and 5-year capital budget update
ii. Statement of Operations – as of Feb. 29, 2024.
iii.

B. Public Works
i. .

C. Agriculture/ Parks & Recreation
i. –

      .............................. Page 8
..............................Pages 9-12

...................................................Pages 3-7

1



D. Emergency/Protective Services

E. Legislative/& Planning/Development
i. RMA ICF Survey

F. Other Business
i. 

7. IN-CAMERA (closed session)

A. L.O Report to Council
B. Richard Harrison, Wilson Laycraft LLP
C. Discussion RE: Chain Lakes Provincial Park Buildings
D. Nanton Community Health Centre update

8. BUSINESS ARISING FROM IN-CAMERA

A. Administration/ Finance
B. Public Works
C. Agriculture/ Parks & Recreation
D. Emergency/Protective Services
E. Legislative /& Planning /Development

i. L.O Report to Council
ii. Richard Harrison Delegation

F. Other Business
i. Discussion RE: Chain Lakes Provincial Park Buildings
ii. Nanton Community Health Centre update

9. ADJOURNMENT

........................................................... Pages 13-30

2



M.D. of Ranchland No. 66 
Minutes of the Regular Council Meeting 

Tuesday, March 26, 2024 
 
The meeting of the Council of the Municipal District of Ranchland No. 66 was held in Council 

Chambers in the Municipal Office located at the Chain Lakes Provincial Park on 
 Tuesday, March 26, 2024, commencing at 10:30 a.m. 

 

 
IN ATTENDANCE Ron Davis, Reeve 

Harry Streeter, Deputy Reeve 
Cameron Gardner, Councillor 
 
Robert Strauss, CAO 
Sheldon Steinke, Council Liaison  
Nikki Funk, Recording Clerk 
Greg Brkich, Accountant 
 

 Darren Davidson, Regional Director, Transportation  
and Economic Corridors 

  John Barlow, Member of Parliament 
  Carrie Penner, Chief of Staff, Office of John Barlow  
 

CALL TO ORDER Reeve Davis called the meeting to order at 10:33 a.m. 

 
ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA 

Motion No. 24/03/26/087 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter to accept the agenda as 
amended with the addition of items: 

6.E.iii – Title Consolidation of Section 29 
6.E.iv – RMA Convention Update 

    and In-Camera items: 
     7.B – Letter of Support 
     7.C – Development Application for a Garage 

    CARRIED 
 

ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES 

Motion No. 24/03/26/088 MOVED by Councillor Gardner that the minutes of the March 
12th, 2024, meeting be adopted as amended.  

 CARRIED 

EXTERNAL CORRESPONDANCE 

 

5.F.iii. – Letter from Minister – Assessment Model Review 
Motion No. 24/03/26/089 MOVED by Reeve Davis to direct administration to follow up 

regarding the particulars of the AMR Steering Committee. 
CARRIED 

 

 

3



5.F.i. – Alberta SW Bulletin 
5.F. ii. –Letter from Minister – PERC Extension 
5.F.iii. – Letter from Minister – Assessment Model Review 

Motion No. 24/03/26/090 MOVED by Councillor Gardner to accept the External 
Correspondence items 5.F.i, and 5.F.ii, and 5.F.iii, for information. 

       CARRIED 
 

Rick Niwa Joined the meeting at 10:56 a.m. 
 

BUSINESS 

6.C.i – 2022 Ford F150 Weed Inspector Truck 
Motion No. 24/03/26/091 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that Council authorizes staff to 

secure a new, suitable vehicle for the agriculture department, 
funded by the fleet reserve, and, once the replacement vehicle has 
been delivered, to sell the existing 2022 F150. 

       CARRIED 
 

6.C.ii - Agricultural Pest and Nuisance Policy 
Motion No. 24/03/26/092 MOVED by Councillor Gardner that Council adopt the revised 

Agricultural Pest and Nuisance Policy, as presented.  
CARRIED 

 
6.C.iii - Animal Health Act Policy 

Motion No. 24/03/26/093 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that Council adopt the Animal 
Health Act Policy as presented. 

CARRIED 
 
 

6.C.iv - Soil Conservation Act Policy 
Motion No. 24/03/26/094 MOVED by Councillor Gardner that Council adopt the Soil 

Conservation Act Policy as presented. 
CARRIED 

 
6.C.v - Weed Control Policy 

Motion No. 24/03/26/095 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that Council adopt the Weed 
Control Policy as presented. 

CARRIED 
 
 

6.C.vi - Rescinding Policy - Policy titled ‘Herbicide, Pesticide, 
Insecticide and Fungicide. 

Motion No. 24/03/26/096 MOVED by Councillor Gardner that Council rescind the Policy 
titled ‘Herbicide, Pesticide, Insecticide and Fungicide.’ 

CARRIED 
 

6.C.vii - Rescinding Policy – 2016- Rental Equipment  
Motion No. 24/03/26/097 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that Council rescind Policy 

2016-1- Rental Equipment. 

CARRIED 
 
 

6.C.vii - Rescinding Policy - Minimum Charges for Herbicide Use  
Motion No. 24/03/26/098 MOVED by Reeve Davis that Council rescind Policy ‘Minimum 

Charges for Herbicide Use’. 

CARRIED 
 
 
 
 

4



 
6.C.viii - Rescinding Policy - Travel Time for Weed Control  

Motion No. 24/03/26/099 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that Council rescind policy 
‘Travel Time for Weed Control.’ 

CARRIED 
 
 

Rick Niwa left the meeting at 11:37 a.m. 
Darren Davidson joined the meeting at 11:39 a.m. 
Rick Lawson joined the meeting at 11:39 a.m. 
Darren Davidson left the meeting at 12:20 p.m. 
 
Reeve Davis recessed the meeting at 12:20 p.m. 
Reeve Davis resumed the meeting at 12:59 p.m. 
 
Rick Lawson left the meeting at 1:07 p.m. 
John Barlow joined the meeting at 1:07 p.m. 
Carrie Penner joined the meeting at 1:07 p.m. 
John Barlow left the meeting at 2:08 p.m. 
Carrie Penner left the meeting at 2:08 p.m. 
 
Reeve Davis recessed the meeting at 2:08 p.m. 
Reeve Davis resumed the meeting at 2:15 p.m. 
 

 
 
 

6.A.i – Action List 
Motion No. 24/03/26/100 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter to accept the Action List for 

information. 
CARRIED 

 

6.A.ii – February 2024 Bank Rec and Cheque Register 
Motion No. 24/03/26/101 MOVED by Councillor Gardner to accept the February 2024 Bank 

Rec and Cheque register for information. 

CARRIED  
 

6.B.i – Delegation: Darren Davidson, Regional Director, Alberta 
Transportation and Economic Corridors  

Motion No. 24/03/26/102 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter to accept the presentation from 
Darren Davidson, Regional Director of Alberta Transportation and 
Economic Corridors. 

       CARRIED 

 
6.E.i – Delegation: MP Barlow 

Motion No. 24/03/26/103 MOVED by Councillor Gardner to accept the delegation from 
Member of Parliament, John Barlow, for information. 

       CARRIED 
  

 
  6.E.ii – Bylaw 2024-02 – Municipal Development Plan Bylaw  
Motion No. 24/03/26/104 MOVED by Reeve Davis to give first reading to Bylaw 2024-02, a 

Bylaw which amends the existing Municipal Development Plan 
Bylaw 2003-02. 

       CARRIED 

  
 
 
   

5



 

IN-CAMERA 

 

Motion No. 24/03/26/105 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that, in accordance with 
Section 197 of the Municipal Government Act, Council moves 
into a closed meeting at 2:58 p.m. to discuss advice from officials, 
per section 24, as well as matters involving legal privilege, per 
section 27, of the Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy Act (FOIP). 

CARRIED 
     
 

Motion No. 24/03/26/106 MOVED by Reeve Davis that Council return to an open meeting 
at 4:20 p.m.    

         CARRIED 
 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM IN-CAMERA 
 

6.E.iii – Title Consolidation of Section 29 
Motion No. 24/03/26/107 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter to authorize up to $7,000 for 

bailiff and legal costs to make an application to Provincial Court to 
have a Judge accept the proposed plan of survey of the left and 
right banks of the Oldman River, as it flows through Section 29-
10-2-W5m, to be funded by general reserves. 

 
           CARRIED
  
 

Motion No. 24/03/26/108 6.E.iii – Title Consolidation of Section 29 
MOVED by Reeve Davis that council direct administration to 
advise Mr. Horacy of the procedures that the M.D. of Ranchland is 
forced to follow in order to effect the Title consolidation on 
Section 29-10-2-W5. 

     CARRIED 
 

Motion No. 24/03/26/109 MOVED by Councillor Gardner Council ratify the submission of 
Municipal Legal Counsel, Carscallen LLP, to launch an 
Administrative Appeal under the Responsible Environment 
Development Act (REDA) on the matter of Northback Holding 
Corporation application for Deep Drilling and Coal Exploration 
Permit to the Alberta Energy Regulator (AER) on February 22, 
2024 and that the AER revoke their decision to grant the permits. 
 

CARRIED 

 
Motion No. 24/03/26/110 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter to direct Legal Counsel, 

Wilson Laycraft to launch a Regulatory Appeal under the 
Responsible Energy Development Act (REDA) Section 38 and 
Section 30 of the Alberta Regulator Rules of Practice (Rules) 
pertaining to the suspension of exploration permits granted to 
Montem Resources Aberta Operations, Cabin Ridge Projects 
Limited and Elan Coal Limited and the conditions pertaining to 
continuation of exploration and reclamation for the work they had 
undertaken under the authority of the permits granted by the 
Alberta Energy Regulator (AER). 

     CARRIED 
 
 
 

6



7.A – L.O Report to Council
7.B – Letter of Support
7.C – Development Permit Application for a Garage

Motion No. 24/03/26/111 MOVED by Reeve Davis to accept In-Camera Items 7.A, 7.B, 7.C, 
for information. 

CARRIED 

6.E.iv – RMA Spring Convention Update
Motion No. 24/03/26/112 MOVED by Reeve Davis to accept the RMA Convention update, 

provided by Deputy Reeve Streeter and CAO Strauss, for 
information. 

CARRIED 

IN-CAMERA 

Motion No. 24/03/26/113 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Streeter that, in accordance with 
Section 197 of the Municipal Government Act, Council moves 
into a closed meeting at 4:47 p.m. to discuss advice from officials, 
per section 24 of the Freedom of Information and Protection of 
Privacy Act (FOIP). 

CARRIED 

Motion No. 24/03/26/114 MOVED by Reeve Davis that Council return to an open meeting 
at 4:55 p.m. 

CARRIED 

BUSINESS 

6.F.i – Chain Lakes Park Concession Discussion
Motion No. 24/03/26/115 MOVED by Councillor Gardner that the MD of Ranchland 

approve the purchase of the ice cream freezer, as presented, for the 
Chain Lakes Park Concession building, contingent upon a 
commitment by the concession operators to operate the concession 
during the 2024 season. 

CARRIED 

ADJOURNMENT Being that the agenda matters have concluded, the Reeve declared 
the meeting adjourned at 4:58 p.m. 

These minutes approved this 9th Day of April, 2024. 

_________________________________________    ________________________________________ 
Ron Davis, Reeve      Robert Strauss, Chief Administrative Officer 

7



M.D. OF RANCHLAND NO. 66 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Information Update (IU) 

 
 

Title:  3 and 5 year Capital Budget Updates       
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 9, 2024 
 
Originated By: Robert Strauss, CAO 
 
Background:  An update of the 3-year Operating / 5 year capital budget will be presented 

for review. This is a process that the MD will need to do annually and will 
endeavor to make that happen on an annual basis, usually in conjunction 
with the regular budget process.  

 
 
Strategic Pillar:  1. Environmental Stewardship 

2. Infrastructure and Service Delivery 
 3: Public Safety & Emergency Services 
 4. Financial Sustainability 
 5: Collaborative Partnership 
 6: Community   
 
 
Options for Action: 1. Review, receive any clarifications then approve 
 
 2. Table pending changes 
  
    
Financial   
Considerations: As presented 
 
    
CAO’s Review/ 
Comments/: To be presented at the meeting 
  
 The 3 Year Operating/ 5 Year Capital Budget with the understanding that it is a 

planning document only and the annual 12-month budget approval remains the 
benchmark that administration is accountable to Council for. 

   
    
 
Attachments: To be presented at the meeting 
 
 

8

https://na3.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAYdtxTkEKVfRLeOJO93hJRnxzzkljMms3


M.D. OF RANCHLAND NO. 66 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Information Update (IU) 

 
 

Title:  Statement of Operations as of Feb 29, 2024       
 
Meeting Date: Tuesday, April 9, 2024 
 
Originated By: Robert Strauss, CAO 
 
Background:  A Statement of Operations for the period ending Feb.29, 2024 has been 

prepared for review.  
 
 
 
Strategic Pillar:   
 4. Financial Sustainability 
  
   
 
 
Options for Action: 1. Upon receiving any clarifications, accept for information 
 
   
 
    
CAO’s Review/ 
Comments/: 1. As per presented 
    
    
 
Attachments: Statement of Operations 
 
 

9

https://na3.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAYdtxTkEKVfRLeOJO93hJRnxzzkljMms3


Annual Variance
Description Actual Budget by %

Non-Functionalized Revenue
Net Property Taxes 0 $2,610,793

Council/Legislative Services
Total Council/Legislative Operating Revenues 0 500

Council Remuneration; Travel & other 15,698 100,582 16
Council - Transfers to (Grants to) 0 2,400
Leg. Staff Pay & Benefits 33,900 173,847 19
Leg. - Legal/Audit and other Contracted Services 16,647 163,884 10
Leg. - Materials, Goods, Supplies and Other 0 1,000
Total Council/Legislative Operating Expenditures 66,245 441,713 15

General Administration
Total General Administration Operating Revenues 200 22,934 1

Gen.Admin. Staff Pay & Benefits 57,874 308,067 19
Staff - Mileage, Training, Travel 7,336 37,800 19
Legal/Insurance/Assessor/Consultant costs 10,844 23,000 47
Information Technology (IT);  Computer Software & Hardware; 

Website; Internet and Telephone costs 20,064 63,000 32
Admin. Bldg. Operational, Maint. & Repair costs 8,818 43,110 20
Health & Safety costs 424 17,200 2
GA - Other Contracted Services 4,666 13,400 35
GA - Other Materials, Goods, Supplies 1,063 21,600 5
Total General Administration Operating Expenditures 111,089 527,177 21

Fiscal Services
Net Fiscal Services Revenue 11,025 137,900 8

Policing
Fine Revenue (CPO issued tickets) 1,967 5,000 39

RCMP Policing cost share agreement with GOA 0 25,467
CPO costs 0 84,731
Total Policing Operating Expenditures 0 110,198

Fire Protection
Total Fire Protection Operating Revenues 0 41,720
Total Fire Protection Operating Expenditures 2,325 85,957 3

Other Protection Services 
Total Other Protection Services Revenue 0 0
Total Other Protection Services Expenditures 3,050 77,174 4

M.D. of Ranchland No. 66

Report as of  February 29, 2024
Statement of Operations (non-financial items are not included)

10



Annual Variance
Description Actual Budget by %

Transportation Services
Operating Grants 14,459 236,270 6
Shop Lease Revenue (from V.S.) 10,206 43,000 24
Revenue from Road Use Agreements 0 10,000
Revenue from Custom Equipment Work 8,034 75,000 11
Other Revenue of Transportation Services 4,019 6,350 63
Total Transportation Services Revenue 36,718 370,620 10

Transportation - Staff Pay & Benefits 85,550 517,958 17
Staff - Mileage, Training, Travel 1,054 3,200 33
Legal/Insurance/Engineering Consultant costs 29,932 254,000 12
Information Technology (IT);  Computer Hardware; 

Internet and Telephone costs 4,449 10,475 42
Public Works Shop/Yard - Operational, Maint. & Repair costs 4,400 78,226 6
Health & Safety costs 598 2,750 22
Gravel Program

Contract Hauling costs 0 180,000
Gravel Consumption & SML lease fees 182 90,360 >1
Gravel Consumption drawn from inventory (for both internal use & sales) 0 (95,000)
Gravel Crushing (to increase inventory) 0 500,000

Cattle Guard/Dust Control/Small Culvert costs 0 65,000
H.E. & Vehicle Maint. & Repair and wear edges 3,572 51,000 7
Fuels & DEF 19,844 115,400 17
TS - Other Contracted Services 15,539 23,900 65
TS - Other Materials, Goods, Supplies 3,733 73,500 5
Total Transportation Operating Expenditures 168,853 1,870,769 9

Waste Management Services
Total Waste Management Operating Expenditures 212 5,765 4

Public Health and Welfare Services
Total Public Health & Welfare Services Revenue 776 34,103 2
Total Public Health & Welfare Services Expenditures 640 36,079 2

Planning & Development Services
Total Planning & Development Services Revenue 0 200
Total Planning & Development Services Expenditures 8,500 43,715 19

Economic Development Services
Total Economic Development Services Expenditures 0 100

Agriculture Support Services
Operating Grants 0 181,247
Weed Control Sales 0 128,500
Program Partnership Funding received 0 0
Deadstock Recycle Program Grant Earned 0 5,000
Other Revenue 19 2,850 1
Total Agriculture Support Services Revenues 19 317,597 >1

Agriculture Service Board Expenses 16,634 48,577 34

11



Annual Variance
Description Actual Budget by %

Ag. Legislative Programming
Staff Pay & Benefits 53,338 395,269 13
Other Ag. Legislative costs 25,640 244,100 11
Producer Weed Control Assistance Program 0 15,500

Ag. Environmental Programming
Staff Pay & Benefits 5,539 55,595 10
Other Ag. Environmental costs 2,982 16,670 18
Deadstock Recycle Program Payments 0 5,000
Riparian Assistance Program Payments 0 4,500

Other Agriculture Support Services Expenses 0 15,100
Total Agriculture Support Services Expenditures 104,133 800,311 13

Parks, Library, RCEC, Recreation
Total Revenue from Parks, RCEC etc. 0 0
Total Expenditures from Parks, RCEC, Library etc. 1,114 6,190 18

Summary
Operating Revenues
Net Municipal Property Tax Revenue 0 2,610,793
Total Council & Other Legislative Service Revenues 0 500
Total General Administration Service Revenues 200 22,934 1
Net Fiscal Services Revenue 11,025 137,900 8
Total Policing Services Revenue 1,967 5,000 39
Total Fire Protection Services Revenue 0 41,720
Total Other Protection Service Revenues 0 0
Total Transportation Service Revenues 36,718 370,620 10
Total Public Health & Welfare Service Revenues 776 34,103 2
Total Planning & Development Service Revenues 0 200
Total Agriculture Support Services Revenue 19 317,597 >1
Total RCEC & Other Recreation Services Revenue 0 0
Grand Total for Operating Revenues 50,705 3,541,367 1

Operating Expenditures
Total Council & Other Legislative Services 66,245 441,713 15
Total General Administration Services 111,089 527,177 21
Total Policing Services Expenditures 0 110,198
Total Fire Protection Services Expenditures 2,325 85,957 3
Total Other Protective Services Expenditures 3,050 77,174 4
Total Transportation Service Expenditures 168,853 1,870,769 9
Total Waste Management Services Expenditures 212 5,765 4
Total Public Health & Welfare Service Expenditures 640 36,079 2
Total Planning & Development Service Expenditures 8,500 43,715 19
Total Economic Development Services Expenditures 0 100
Total Agriculture Support Services Expenditures 104,133 800,311 13
Total RCEC & Other Recreation Services Expenditures 1,114 6,190 18
Grand Total for Operating Expenditures 466,161 4,005,148 12
Excess or (Deficiency) of Operating

Revenues Over Operating Expenditures ($415,456) ($463,781) 90

Transfer from Gravel Crushing Operating Reserves 0 500,000

Transfer to Reserves for Nanton Health Centre 0 (1,000)

Net Operating Surplus before Capital Activity ($415,456) $35,219

12



M.D. OF RANCHLAND NO. 66 
REPORT TO COUNCIL 
Information Update (IU) 

 
 

Title:  RMA ICF Survey       
 
Meeting Date: Wednesday, April 10, 2024 
 
Originated By: Robert Strauss, CAO 
 
Background:  A survey for the Intermunicipal Collaborative Framework (ICF) process 

is presented.  
 
 
Benefits:  Participation in these types of surveys gives the MD of Ranchland a voice 

in provincial regulation process and supports our municipal association 
(RMA).  

 
Disadvantages: None that are apparent 
 
Strategic Pillar:  1. Environmental Stewardship 

2. Infrastructure and Service Delivery 
 3: Public Safety & Emergency Services 
 4. Financial Sustainability 
 5: Collaborative Partnership 
 6: Community   
 
 
Options for Action: 1. Discuss and direct administration to submit a survey representing 

Council’s position on the topic. 
 
 2. Accept for information. 
   
    
 
 
    
CAO’s Review/ 
Comments/: I can provide some background and some conversation I have had with another 

rural municipality on this survey. 
    
    
 
Attachments: ICF Survey Document 
 

13

https://na3.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAAYdtxTkEKVfRLeOJO93hJRnxzzkljMms3


 

 

 
  

Intermunicipal 
Collaboration 
Frameworks 

Engagement Guide for RMA Members 
March 2024 

14



 

2 

Introduction 
The Municipal Government Act (MGA) requires all municipalities that share a border (with the exception of 
those that are members of the same growth management board) to complete an intermunicipal collaboration 
framework (ICFs). ICFs are intended to support intermunicipal collaboration in service delivery through strategic 
allocation of funding and resources. 
 
The original deadline for the completion of ICFs was April 1, 2020. This was subsequently extended to April 1, 
2021, with the deadline for the completion of ICFs requiring arbitration set for April 1, 2022. The MGA requires 
municipalities to review ICFs every five years. A Ministerial Order extended the review deadline to seven years. 
The Ministerial Order expires in 2027, at which time the five-year review period would take effect unless 
legislative changes occur prior to that point. 
 
As ICF agreements are currently complete (with the exception of a small number still undergoing a judicial 
review) and the majority of agreements are not yet subject to review and possible renegotiation, Alberta 
Municipal Affairs has launched an engagement process to consider municipal input on possible changes to the 
ICF process.  
 

RMA position and member resolutions 
Over the past decade, RMA has provided significant input to Municipal Affairs regarding ICFs. This includes 
during initial design, during the negotiation process, following the initial agreement deadline, and following the 
deadline for arbitration decisions.  

RMA’s feedback to Municipal Affairs has always been based on a general argument that while ICFs are a 
potentially effective tool in supporting regional collaboration on service delivery in circumstances where 
partnering makes sense and is beneficial to both municipalities, the process must be designed in a way that 
prevents manipulation of the process by either party. This could include misrepresenting service usage or 
financial data, using threats of changes or elimination of other agreements as leverage to receive enhanced 
support for a certain service, intentionally withdrawing from good faith negotiations to force an arbitration 
process, and others. Unfortunately, while the majority of ICFs were completed on-time and strengthened the 
relationship between neighbouring municipalities, those that did not go well showed that the current process 
includes gaps and loopholes that municipalities can take advantage of to undermine the collaborative intent of 
the ICF process. If ICFs are to develop into core municipal planning documents in the future, these gaps and 
loopholes must be addressed. 

In addition to RMA’s general perspective on ICFS, RMA members have passed two related resolutions: 

ER1-23F: Limiting Third-party Services in ICF Agreements 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the Rural Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) advocate to the Government of 
Alberta (GOA) that third-party services should not be included in intermunicipal collaboration frameworks 
(ICFs) and should be left to each ICF negotiation partnership to determine external to the ICF process; 
 
FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED THAT the RMA advocate to the GOA to limit the funding demands by urban 
municipalities, particularly when these demands arise from their independent decisions and are based on an 
assumption that rural municipalities will subsidize a portion of their costs or shortages. 

15

https://rmalberta.com/resolutions/er1-23f-limiting-third-party-services-in-icf-agreements/
https://rmalberta.com/resolutions/er1-23f-limiting-third-party-services-in-icf-agreements/


 

3 

 
7-22F: Intermunicipal Collaboration Framework Reform 
 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Rural Municipalities of Alberta (RMA) request the Government of 
Alberta amend the Municipal Government Act to define “core municipal services” for the purpose of 
intermunicipal collaboration frameworks and mandate that municipalities present verifiable costs to justify 
cost sharing for the aforementioned defined core municipal services; 
 
FURTHER BE IT RESOLVED that the RMA request that the Government of Alberta ensure that members of a 
growth management board are not required to enter into an intermunicipal collaboration framework with 
each other.   

Engagement process 
At this point, the engagement process consists of an online survey. The survey includes a series of close-ended 
questions on the following ICF themes: 
 
 Intermunicipal services to be included in an ICF 

 ICF agreement duration 

 Cost calculations 

 Mediation and arbitration 

 Enforcement 

There is also an opportunity for open ended responses at the conclusion of the survey. 
 
RMA is aware of targeted in-person engagement sessions scheduled with municipal administrators associations. 
In discussions with Municipal Affairs staff, RMA has learned that there may be additional engagement following 
the survey depending on the results, but this is still to be determined. 

How to use this guide 
This guide is intended to support RMA members in participating in the ICF engagement process, but is not 
intended to direct members to answer individual survey questions in a specific way.  

Instead, the guide provides an overview of existing RMA positions for each of the five survey themes, as well as 
questions municipalities should consider when selecting answers to questions within each theme. In some cases, 
the guide may identify specific question response options as posing a high risk for negative impacts on rural 
municipal service delivery, finances, or governance, but for the most part, the guide will be framed around 
themes rather than questions. 

Note that the survey questions are quite narrow and do not address many aspects of the ICF process that 
RMA considers most important. Members are encouraged to utilize the final question (“Do you have anything 
else you would like to share about ICFs?”) to emphasize some of the points and issues outlined in this guide, 
existing resolutions, and their own local priorities that may not fit within the core survey questions. 

Ongoing RMA Support 
For specific questions about this guide, the engagement process, or how RMA can support members, please 
contact RMA General Manager of Policy and Advocacy Wyatt Skovron at wyatt@RMAlberta.com.  

16

https://rmalberta.com/resolutions/7-22f-intermunicipal-collaboration-framework-reform/
https://extranet.gov.ab.ca/opinio6/s?s=ICFReview
mailto:wyatt@RMAlberta.com
https://rmalberta.com/resolutions/7-22f-intermunicipal-collaboration-framework-reform/
https://extranet.gov.ab.ca/opinio6/s?s=ICFReview
mailto:wyatt@RMAlberta.com


 

4 

Theme 1: Intermunicipal services to be included in an ICF 
Overview 
Currently, the MGA does not define a “service” for the purpose of ICFs or include a list of services that must, 
may, or may not be included within ICFs. This open-ended approach to service definition is intended to allow 
maximum flexibility for the municipalities participating in the ICF negotiation process to identify the services 
that make sense to them, rather than work through a pre-determined suite of services that may not necessarily 
be well-suited to a regional approach in each local context.  
 
Currently, the MGA’s reference to services is quite limited. S. 708.29(1) states that 
 

A framework must describe the services to be provided under it that benefit residents in more than one 
of the municipalities that are parties to the framework.  

 
While a lack of definition or scope of services has benefits in maximizing the flexibility of individual ICF 
negotiations, it also risks creating an overly complex or adversarial process if each participating municipality has 
a different view on how a service should be defined and whether a given service has intermunicipal relevance. 
 
The MGA is currently silent on the inclusion of third-party services. This was a point of confusion and conflict in 
many ICF negotiations. 

RMA Position 
In general, RMA has taken the position that the current lack of “service” definition and scope has significantly 
more risks than benefits for municipalities. RMA’s 2022 ICF member survey found that approximately one-third 
of respondents viewed the scope of services introduced into ICFs by urban neighbours to be unreasonable. 
Within the context of ICFs, “unreasonable” services are typically those lacking any clear intermunicipal purpose 
or attempts to label a piece of infrastructure as a service without considering how and to what extent it is used.  

Among those that dealt with unreasonable service expectations during ICF negotiations, most identified a lack of  
legislative clarity around what defines an intermunicipal service as the primary reason for unreasonable services 
being inserted into the negotiation process. Some specific examples of unreasonable services that RMA 
members encountered from municipal neighbours during negotiations include: 

 Capital costs associated with roads within the neighbouring municipality because they are driven on by rural 
municipal residents. 

 Capital costs associated with general infrastructure within a neighbouring municipality’s commercial district 
because the commercial district is visited by residents of the neighbouring municipality for shopping, etc. 

 Capital costs associated with upgrading railway crossings within the core of the neighbouring municipality 
because the train using the tracks transports natural resources extracted from the rural municipality. 

Based on this finding, RMA has taken the position that “service” should be defined within the MGA for the 
purposes of intermunicipal collaboration frameworks. 

In addition to defining a service (or perhaps what is not a service), there is value to amending the MGA to 
include a list of core services that must be addressed in an ICF. This was originally included in the MGA but was 
subsequently removed with the intent of simplifying the process for municipalities by allowing them to identify 

17



 

5 

the services worth discussing rather than requiring adherence to a default list. The original list included the 
following services: 

 Transportation 
 Water and wastewater 
 Solid waste 
 Emergency services 
 Recreation 
 Any other services that benefit residents in more than one of the municipalities that were parties to the 

framework. 

Unfortunately, in some cases, the removing this list has led to a more complex process as a lack of legislative 
guidance led to some municipalities simply forcing a discussion of every service they deliver (and in some cases 
non-service items) in an effort to “see what might stick.” Re-inserting a legislated list of core services to discuss 
should have the effect of grounding discussions, and combined with a legislated definition of “service,” should 
ensure that any negotiations on services not in the list are based on a reasonable level of proof and justification 
that they may have an intermunicipal dimension. 

RMA has also taken the position that third-party services (such as libraries, non-profit delivered recreation or 
social services, etc.) should not be allowed within ICF negotiations. While there is no reason municipalities 
cannot work together to support these services, an ICF is specifically intended to focus on bilateral collaboration 
among municipalities. Including third-party services requires including non-municipal entities into the ICF 
process, which will lead to confusion in terms of negotiations as well as accountability related to implementing 
the agreements. 

Questions to Consider 
 What is the right balance between local autonomy and provincewide standardization in defining services for 

the purpose of ICFs? 
 How can legislation or the negotiation process be changed to minimize the risks of one municipality forcing a 

discussion of an item that is obviously not a service or not intermunicipal in scope? 
 If a list of standardized services is returned to the MGA, is the previous list adequate? Are more services 

required? Should some services be removed? 
 How can the process ensure that recourse is available if there is significant disagreement about whether a 

service is valid within the ICF negotiation context? 

  

18



 

6 

Theme 2: ICF Agreement Duration 
Overview 
Although the current maximum ICF agreement is seven years, this is based on a Ministerial Order that expires in 
2027. Section 708.32(1) states that 
 

The municipalities that are parties to a framework must review the framework at least every 5 years 
after the framework is created, or within a shorter period of time as provided for in the framework. 

 
While this section sets a mandatory maximum duration for when ICFs must be reviewed and renegotiated, it 
also states that the ICF may be reviewed at any point upon agreement by all parties. ICFs also may have shorter 
review periods included as an agreement within the ICF itself.  

RMA Position 
Assuming municipalities continue to have the ability to review an ICF when needed if all parties agree, RMA 
supports amending the MGA to require review every seven years. This will allow adequate time for collaborative 
approaches developed during the ICF process to be implemented, and will reduce the frequency or likelihood of 
sudden politically-motivated changes linked to elections and council turnover. 

Questions to Consider 
 How much time between reviews is required to determine whether implementation of agreements is 

successful? 
 Should municipal election years be a consideration in when ICFs are reviewed? 

  

19



 

7 

Theme 3: Cost Calculations 
Overview 
A key aspect of ICF negotiations are determining how the costs of delivering intermunicipal services are divided 
among the municipalities within an agreement. The MGA has minimal references to cost calculations, aside from 
s. 708.29(2), which states that  

In developing the content of the framework, the municipalities must identify which municipality is 
responsible for providing which services and outline how the services will be delivered and funded. 

Similar to the section on services, the MGA alludes to costs being an element of ICF development, but provides 
no guidance, restrictions, or methodology as to how costs should be determined.  

RMA Position 
RMA does not support a prescriptive methodology to allocate costs among municipalities within an ICF. There is 
simply too much diversity among municipalities, and too many locally-driven determiners of cost and service 
need to assume that a single metric or methodology could equitably distribute service delivery costs on a 
provincewide basis.  

RMA has taken the position that a legislated standard is required for the quality of data municipalities use as 
proof of their current service delivery costs and service level requirements. RMA members reported several 
instances of neighouring municipalities relying on anecdotes, assumptions, or poor quality data to determine 
service cost baselines. While this was often done due to no other alternative being available, it made meaningful 
negotiations extremely difficult as there was no way to verify the submitted costs, leading to a loss of trust and 
in some cases a sense that costs were being exaggerated or even fabricated. Requiring municipalities to track 
their own service costs and service levels based on a pre-determined methodology, or to a certain standard 
(quantifiable, verifiable, etc.) would ensure that data quality and accuracy is no longer an issue moving forward, 
and that municipalities can focus on negotiating the proper methodology for determining proportional 
responsibility for costs, rather than on debating what the actual costs are. 

Questions To Consider 
 How would a prescribed methodology for determining cost-sharing requirements impact ICF negotiations at 

the local level? 
 Are there other methods, best practices or legislative requirements that could help standardize service level 

and cost sharing methodology aside from those proposed in the survey? 
 If increased expectations are placed on municipalities to provide data-driven service level and cost 

information as part of the negotiation process, what capacity or funding support is required to ensure that 
small municipalities can develop this data? What broader benefits would this requirement have?   

High Priority Response 
Although the “cost calculations” section only includes one question, some of the options given as a possible 
response are quite problematic, and swerve far from the original intent of ICFs, which is to focus on 
collaborative service delivery. RMA is particularly concerned about the options within the question for 
“equalized assessment” and “population (i.e., cost per capita)” as potential determiners of the portion of service 
delivery costs assumed by each municipality within an ICF. 
 

20



 

8 

Were one or both of mechanisms to be implemented, the outcomes could be extremely problematic for rural 
municipalities. While there is no detail as to how either would function, history suggests that equalized 
assessment would be used as an indicator of municipal fiscal capacity, and municipalities with higher fiscal 
capacities would be required to fund a larger share of service costs. Population would likely be used in the 
opposite way; those with a higher population within a given service area (typically an urban municipality) would 
likely receive a larger share of funding from lower-population neighbours (because there are virtually no urban-
to-urban ICFs, this would almost always result in the rural municipality contributing to the urban municipality).  
 
While considering how the two metrics would actually be translated into methodology requires speculation, 
both would shift the ICF process from a discussion and eventual collaboration on the service levels and costs to 
essentially a revenue-sharing exercise, where one municipality pays a portion based on a metric with only a 
partial (and typically complex) link to actual service needs. RMA has long argued that revenue-sharing is not an 
ideal form of collaboration (although it may work in some local circumstances) because it does not require a 
critical conversation around how shared revenue is used, how services are delivered, how costs are measured, 
etc.  
 
With this in mind, RMA strongly recommends that members do not select equalized assessment or population 
as responses to question #9 in the survey. As mentioned, RMA plans to provide input recommending that 
standards be applied to how each municipality presents data in advance of negotiations, rather than a 
prescriptive method of calculating actual cost proportions. However, if a member believes that requirements 
around cost calculations would be beneficial, RMA suggests selecting “mutual agreement by municipality, based 
on a specific service,” as this will allow for a continued local dimension to ICFs.  

21



 

9 

Theme 4: Mediation and Arbitration 
Overview 
The MGA provides significant and specific direction on the ICF arbitration process. As the MGA does not provide 
the same specifics around mediation, this section will focus on arbitration. 

The MGA (s. 708.34) outlines several circumstances in which municipalities must use arbitration to finalize an 
ICF. This includes when they are unable to agree to an ICF within the legislated review timeframe, when there is 
disagreement as to whether the ICF still serves the parties’ interests during the review process, or when the 
internal dispute resolution process within each ICF has not led to the resolution of a dispute within one year of 
beginning. 

The MGA outlines the powers of the arbitrator and the timeline by which an arbitration must be resolved, either 
through agreement by the municipalities or by a decision of the arbitrator. S. 708.38(1) outlines that matters 
that the arbitrator may consider, which includes the following: 

 the services and infrastructure provided for in other frameworks to which the municipalities are also parties, 
 consistency of services provided to residents in the municipalities, 
 equitable sharing of costs among municipalities, 
 environmental concerns within the municipalities, 
 the public interest, and 
 any other matters that the arbitrator considers relevant. 
 
The municipalities are required to amend their bylaws and adopt an ICF consistent with the arbitrator’s ruling. 
 
Unless the parties agree on how the costs of the arbitrator are distributed or the arbitrator makes a specific 
ruling on costs, s. 708.41(2) states that the proportion of arbitrator costs assumed by each municipality is based 
on their comparative proportion of equalized assessment.  
 
The MGA does allow arbitration appeals, but only on issues of jurisdiction (s. 708.48(5)). 

RMA Position 
While the majority of ICF negotiations did not result in arbitration, municipalities that did require an arbitrator 
reported significant concerns with the arbitration process. In fact, 25% of respondents to RMA’s ICF member 
survey indicated that they agreed to an ICF with terms they were uncomfortable with to avoid the risk of 
arbitration. Multiple issues contributed to rural municipal arbitration concerns. Firstly, the arbitration cost 
allocation formula’s reliance on equalized assessment means that in most cases, rural municipalities are 
responsible for most of the costs of arbitration, as well as their own legal costs. Secondly, the MGA gives the 
arbitrator wide latitude in reaching a final decision, as well as on considering issues or information that was not 
the subject of the original negotiation between the parties. In other words, once a negotiation reaches 
arbitration, the arbitrator can essentially consider any issues they deem relevant, and decide on any final 
outcomes that they deem appropriate (with a few exceptions outlined in the MGA). As rural municipalities are 
typically the party responsible for contributing to costs of services delivered by the urban municipality, this 
places them in a position of high risk during arbitration, as an arbitrator could reach a decision based on a 
rationale or methodology not discussed during the negotiation that could have major fiscal impacts on the rural 
municipality. 
 

22



 

10 

Rural municipalities that did participate in arbitration reported instances of this issue, in part because arbitrators 
tended to lack an understanding of municipalities, and in particular rural municipal cost drivers, service levels, 
and fiscal challenges, and often assumed that any service available in an urban municipality should be equally 
contributed to by a rural neighbour even if such a service was not historically available or fiscally feasible to offer 
in a rural context. 
 
Based on these member concerns, RMA has several existing positions relating to the ICF arbitration process, 
including the following: 
 
 Municipalities should not be permitted to introduce services into the arbitration process that were not 

addressed in the initial negotiation process. 

 This will mitigate the risks of municipalities adding new services to increase the costs of the actual 
arbitration process or to treat arbitration as a “cash grab” opportunity.  

 Arbitrators should be required to demonstrate a certain level of municipal experience or complete 
municipal-specific training. 

 While arbitrators are highly skilled in the actual arbitration process, municipal issues are nuanced 
and require technical background in municipal legislation and governance. Ensuring arbitrators have 
some level of municipal training will mitigate the risk of real or perceived arbitrator bias. 

 The portion of arbitration costs paid by any one municipality should be capped. 

 While there is merit to linking arbitration costs to a municipality’s ability to pay, there also must be 
some level of accountability on the part of all municipalities for not reaching an agreement during 
negotiations. Capping the portion of costs assumed by either municipality at 90% will ensure that 
both municipalities have a stake in the arbitration process, and an incentive to have the process 
proceed as efficiently as possible. 

 The arbitration appeal process should be broadened. 

 RMA members reported instances of arbitrators relying on anecdotal evidence or assumptions to 
make decisions with significant fiscal impacts. Given the stakes involved, if a municipality believes 
that the arbitrator misused or misinterpreted information, they should have an opportunity to seek 
an appeal. 

While an expanded appeal process would improve fairness and transparency, there are risks that 
appeals could be used to obstruct the completion of the process. For this reason, shifting the initial 
appeals process for issues related to interpretation and weighing of evidence away from the Court 
of Queen’s Bench toward the Minister or a third party quasi-judicial panel may allow for such 
appeals to initially be screened to avoid spurious or unmerited complaints, with those deemed valid 
forwarded on to the Court of Queen’s Bench. 

Questions to Consider 
 How can the arbitration process be modified to better distribute the risks and benefits of arbitration to all 

involved parties? 
 What is the appropriate scope for an arbitrator? Should requirements for evidence and data be the same or 

different in arbitration compared to the initial negotiation process? 
 Are there any cases in which an arbitrator should be permitted to consider issues not raised during initial 

negotiations? If so, why?  

  

23



 

11 

Theme 5: Enforcement 
Overview 
The MGA gives the Minister significant powers to ensure compliance with ICFs, particularly in the case of 
arbitrated outcomes, and conduct enforcement in cases where municipalities refuse to implement requirements 
in the agreement. The Minister may also establish a binding framework upon two or more municipalities. 

S. 708.43(3) lists the enforcement actions that a Minister may take, which include suspending the authority of a 
council to pass bylaws associated with any matter in the agreement, withholding grants to the municipality, and 
others. 

RMA Position 
RMA has not taken a position on the scope and processes of the Minister’s enforcement powers. It is important 
to note that the questions in the survey focus on giving the Minister more authority in relation to taking action 
to force a municipality to implement an arbitrated decision that they disagree with. It is crucial that 
municipalities are not required to comply with an arbitrator’s decision if it is still subject to an appeal, as the 
costs and administrative impacts of complying could be significant, and reversing them may be difficult for both 
municipalities if the arbitrator’s decision is overruled by the Courts. 

Questions to Consider 
 How can the legislation balance ensuring municipalities abide by arbitrated decisions with allowing appeals 

to play out in the Courts? 
 If the Minister is given the ability to overrule or dismiss a decision of an arbitrator, if and how should the 

Minister be required to justify this decision? 

High Priority Response 
Question #14 considers giving the Minister significant power to make decisions on behalf of municipalities. 
Some of the options presented would not only infringe on municipal autonomy, but may allow the Minister to 
force municipalities to implement arbitrator decisions while appeals have not yet been ruled upon. Some urban 
municipalities have advocated for this change, and RMA is concerned that if implemented, it would prevent 
appeals due to the challenges associated with potentially implementing and subsequently reversing ICF 
elements. 

Question #15 contemplates whether the Minister should be able to overrule an arbitrator’s decision if they view 
it as having an unfair impact or overreach the legislated provisions of ICFs. Enabling this may partially offset the 
risks inherent with arbitration outlined in theme 4, but it would likely require an especially outrageous situation 
for the Minister to Act on this power. While RMA recommends that members support this power, they should 
emphasize that it be implemented in combination with changes to the arbitration process. 

  

24



 

12 

Other Themes 
Given the narrow parameters of the survey, there are other priority positions that do not align with the survey 
questions, but that members should consider emphasizing in an open-ended response to question 16. These 
include the following: 

Define a scope or threshold for “intermunicipal” 
The lack of structure related to how intermunicipal benefits are defined or quantified led to the inclusion of 
services with questionable or unproven intermunicipal benefits into some ICF negotiations. Without a definition 
or threshold as to when a particular service can be considered intermunicipal in nature, ICF negotiations are at 
high risk for manipulation. It is important to note that in most cases, both municipal partners could easily agree 
on whether a particular service provided notable benefits across municipal boundaries, but in cases where 
agreement is not reached, the parties involved (or arbitrator) must have some sort of threshold to measure a 
proposed intermunicipal service against. This could potentially include verified service usage data indicating a 
significant level of regional usage, a documented history of both municipalities discussing or planning for the 
service, or other methods. 

Municipalities should be required to include consideration of how shared input is provided 
for shared services 
ICFs focus primarily on how and to what level services are provided across municipal boundaries, and how costs 
for delivering the service are divided. What is absent in both the ICF development and arbitration processes is 
any requirement to consider if and how decision-making related to shared services should be determined. In 
many cases, both municipal partners are comfortable leaving decision-making around how a particular service is 
delivered to the municipality that already provides it, with the other municipality simply providing a set 
monetary contribution to recognize the fact that its residents access the service. However, in some cases 
reported by RMA members, the contributing municipality was uncomfortable with how a particular service was 
being delivered and the associated costs in delivering it.  

From the perspective of rural municipalities, which in most cases are responsible for contributing to services 
delivered by urban municipalities but accessed to some extent by rural residents, it is quite problematic to 
expect contributions without any consideration of a corresponding portion of input into service level 
determination and service delivery mechanisms. Some examples of this issue include rural contributions to 
urban-delivered recreation services, after which the urban municipality increased user fees for rural residents 
without consulting with the rural municipality. In this case, the rural municipality viewed the urban municipality 
as “double-dipping” by using an intermunicipal tool to gather contributions directly from the rural municipality, 
and using local decision-making to further increase their revenues directly from rural residents. If the rural 
municipality is contributing to the service at a level proportionate to its residents’ usage levels, they should 
expect to have input into the service at a similar proportion, and at the very least an assurance that its residents 
will have equitable access. Under the current structure there is no requirement that municipalities even discuss 
decision-making collaboration, which places the contributing municipality at great risk in comparison to the 
municipality responsible for delivering the service. 

 

 

25



 

26



 

27



28



29



 

30



AGENDA Package 04 09
Final Audit Report 2024-04-05

Created: 2024-04-05

By: Nikki Funk (legislative@ranchland66.com)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAYdtxTkEKVfRLeOJO93hJRnxzzkljMms3

"AGENDA Package 04 09" History
Document created by Nikki Funk (legislative@ranchland66.com)
2024-04-05 - 9:51:16 PM GMT- IP address: 68.146.245.205

Document emailed to cao@ranchland66.com for signature
2024-04-05 - 9:52:01 PM GMT

Email viewed by cao@ranchland66.com
2024-04-05 - 9:53:39 PM GMT- IP address: 104.47.75.190

Signer cao@ranchland66.com entered name at signing as Robert Strauss
2024-04-05 - 9:54:12 PM GMT- IP address: 199.167.26.98

Document e-signed by Robert Strauss (cao@ranchland66.com)
Signature Date: 2024-04-05 - 9:54:14 PM GMT - Time Source: server- IP address: 199.167.26.98

Agreement completed.
2024-04-05 - 9:54:14 PM GMT


		2024-04-05T14:54:16-0700
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign




